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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI
EASTERN DIVISION

THOMAS L. SANDERSON, Civil Action:

an individual, Case N
ase No.

Plaintiff,
VS,

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
ANDREW BAILEY, in his official )
capacity as Attorney General of the State )
of Missouri; and JAMES HUDANICK, )
in his official capacity as Chief of Police )
of the city of Hazelwood, Missouri ;
)

Defendants.,

VERIFIED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Thomas L. Sanderson hereby alleges as follows;

1. This action challenges the constitutionality of a provision of Missouri state law
mandating that persons convicted of sex offenses (“Registrants’) display a sign af their
residences declaring “No candy or treats at this residence” each Halloween, (Exh. A, MO Rev,
Stat. § 589.426(1)(3) (2022), hereinafter the “Halloween Sign Posting Mandate” or “the
Statute.”)

2. Courts in other jurisdictions have struck down similar Halloween sign posting
mandates on the ground that they are “classic” examples of “compelled speech” in violation ;of '

the First Amendment. E.g., McClendon v, Long, 22 F.4th 1330, 1337 (11th Cir, 2022),
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3, Further, sign posting mandates such as that imposed by the State of Missouri *

“pose[] a danger 1o [Registrants], their families and their property.” Doe v. City of Simi Valley,

2012 WL 12507598, at *7-9 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 29, 2012). That is because the sign posting mandat,é
and its association with the requirement to register as a sex offender is highly publicized by state
and local government, as well as the media. Further, both the government and the media o
encourage the public to view the occupants of any house displaying the sign at issue as. likely' '
abusers of children, As one United States District Court observed, a Halloween sign’s “funotion-
and effect is likely to approximate that of Hawthorne’s Scatlet Letter — . . . potentially subjecting
[Registrants] to dangerous mischief common on Halloween night and to community harassment
in the weeks and months following[.]”* Id. at 9 |

4, There is no empirical evidence for the State of Missouri’s continued assertion of é
danger to children from Registrants on Halloween, or for any special regulation of Registrants on
Halloween. In fact, the leading association of specialists in the treatment of sexual offendérs‘, tﬁe
Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers (ATSA), affirmatively denounces Haiioween.
restrictions such as Missouri’s Halloween Sign Posting Mandate because they are grounded in - A'
“myth” and “do not make children safer.” See Exh. B, ATSA, Halloween and sexual abuse
prevention: The mythical "Halloween effect” (Oct. 4, 2019).

5, The baseless nature of the Missouri Statute is compounded by its arbitre;ry
enforcement in the state. For example, for the past 22 years, Plaintiff Thomas L. Sanderson, a - .
Registrant, and his family have hosted popular Halloween festivities on their property in the city
of Hazelwood, which included lavish decorations on and around their residence, 1n 2008 z;nd
2012, both the St. Louis County Police Department and the Hazelwood Police Departn.lent, .

respectively, informed Plaintiff Sanderson that neither the Halloween Sign Posting Mandate nor
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any other provision of the Statute applied to Plaintiff, because his conviction predates the
effective date of the Statute, August 28, 2008. Therefore, for each of the; past 14 years, and with
law enforcement’s direct knowledge, Plaintiff Sanderson decorated his property for Halloween,
and otherwise participated in Halloween activities with the more than 100 hundred peoﬁle who
typically attend it, without complying with the Halloween sign posting mandate. At no time
during that 14-year period did Plaintiff Sanderson receive notice that the Statute applied to him.
6. However, on November 3, 2022, Hazelwood Police officers suddenly arrested
Plaintiff for a violation of Section 589.426. The State of Missouri prosecuted Plaintiff .Sande‘rson
for the same, and Plaintiff Sanderson was convicted on April 13, 2023, |
7. Plaintiff Sanderson and his family are gravely concerned that the sudden
disappearance of his well-known annual Halloween display, coupled with the conspicuous -
appearance of the sign mandated by the Statate, will invite danger to himself, his famiily, and his
property, As more fully pleaded below, the Halloween Sign Posting Mandate of Missouri
Revised Statute section 589.426 violates the First Amendment by forcing Plaintiff Sanderson to
“denunciate” himself, and by forcing Plaintiff Sanderson to utter speech that is false, political in

nature, and that he does not wish to make. Gralike v. Cook, 191 F.3d 911, 917-19 (8th Cir.

1999), aff*d on other grounds Cook v, Gralike, 531 U.S, 510 (2001).
8. Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks a judgment enjoining prospective enforcement of the
sign posting mandate of the Statute,
L JURISDICTION AND VENUE
9. This court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. sections 1331, _-

1343(a), and 2201, as well as 42 U.8.C. section 1983,
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10.  Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Missouri because Defendants reside in
that judicial district, in that they maintain an office in that District and perform their ofﬁqie.xl
duties in that District. (28 U.S.C. § 1391, subd. (b)(1).) In addition, venue is proper in the
Eastern District of Missouri because a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim has
occurred or will oceur in that judicial district, that is, the prosecution of Plaintiff Sanderson for
violation of the Statute. (28 U.S.C. § 1391, subd, (b)(2).) In addition, venue is proper in the
Eastern District of Missouri because the property that is subject to the Statute, that is, Pléintiff '
Sanderson’s residence, is located in this judicial district. (28 U.S.C. § 1391, subd. (b)(3).)

11.  Divisional venue is proper in the Eastern Division pursuant to Local Rule 2:07 |
{AX(1), (B)(2), because at least one Defendant resides in the Eastern Division, and because the
claim for relief arises in the Eastern Division. E.D.Mo, L.R. 2.07.

. PARTIES

12, Plaintiff Thomas W, Sanderson is an individual residing in the city of Hazelwodd,
Missouri, who was convicted of an offense requiring registration pursuant to Missouri Revised.
Statute sections 589.400 to 589.425 in the State of Missouri.

13.  Defendant Andrew Bailey is the Attorney General of the State of Missouri and in
that capacity is responsible for the enforcetnent of Missouri State law against Plaintiff
Sanderson, including the unlawful provision of the Statute at issue in this action, Defendant '
Bailey is sued in his official capacity.

14, Defendant Hudanick is the Chief of Police of the city of Hazelwood, Missouri,
and in that capacity is responsible for the enforcement against Plaintiff Sanderson of the
unlawful provision of the Statute at issue in this action. Defendant Hudanick is sued in his .

official capacity.
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III. FACTS

A, Missouri Revised Statute Section 589,426 and the Halloween Sign Posting Mandate

15.  Effective August 28, 2008, the State of Missouri enacted Missouri Revised -
Statute section 589,426, which imposes certain restrictions and affirmative obligations upon

Registrants each October 31st (Halloween). The Statute provides, in full, as follows:

589.426. Halloween, restrictions on conduct — violations, penalty, —

1. Any person required to register as a sexual offender under sections 589.400 to
589.425 shall be required on October thirty-first of each year to:

{1} Avoid all Halloween-related contact with children;

(2) Remain inside his or her residence between the hours of 5 p.m. and
10:30 p.m. unless required to be elsewhere for just canse, including but
not limited to employment or medical emergencies;

(3) Post a sign at his or her residence stating, "No candy or treats at
this residence; and

{4) Leave all outside residential lighting off during the evening hours after
5 pam. ‘

2. Any person required to register as a sexual offender under sections 589,400 to
589,425 who violates the provisions of subsection 1 of this section shall be guilty
of a class A misdemeanor.

MO Rev. Stat. § 589.426 (2022). The provision of the Statute requiring Registrants to “post-a
sign at his or her residence stating “No candy or treats at this residence’ is refesred to herein as
the “Halloween Sign Posting Mandate,” Id. § 589.426, subd. (1)(3).

B. Halloween Sign Posting Mandates Are Based Upon Myth of “Stranger Danger” and

Wholly Lack Empirical or Othey Support

16.  Halloween restrictions like those confained in Section 589.426 are based upon a
myth of “stranger danger” and other false and emotionally charged beliefs that are consistently _
refuted by empirical data,

17, In2019, the prestigious Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers (AT-SA)

published a statement entitled The Mythical “Halloween Effect” expressly concluding that .

5
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“Jurisdictions that ban individuals on sex offender registries from participating in any Halloween
activities, require registrants to post signs in their yards during Halloween, or round up |
registrants for the duration of trick-or-treating do not make children safer.” Exh. B, ATSA,
Halloween and sexual abuse prevention: The mythical "Halloween effect” (Oct. ;4, 2019). -
ATSA laments that “due to the myths regarding child sexual abuse that focus on ‘stranger
danger,” communities and lawmakers often endorse policies that do little to prevent sexuai abuse
and instead unnecessarily stretch limited law enforcement resources.” Ibid. The entire ATSA
Statement i3 quoted here:

As October arrives and families begin preparing for Halloween, it is
always a priority to ensure children’s safety during this holiday. It is important to
learn the facts and know the risks to your child during this festive time, A
heightened risk of being sexually abused is NOT one of the dangers children face
at Halloween.

The simple fact is that there are no significant increases in sex crimes on
or around Halloween. There is no “Halloween effect.” There is no change in the
rate of sexual crimes by non-family members during Halloween. That was true”
both before and after communities enacted laws fo restrict the activities of
registrants during Halloween.

The crimes that do increase around Halloween are vandalism and property
destruction, as well as theft, assault, and burglary. In addition, according to the
Centers for Disease Control, children are four times more likely to be killed by a
pedestrian/motor-vehicle accident on Halloween than on any other day of the
year,

Fully 93% of sexual assaults on children are perpetrated by someone
known to, and trusted by, the child and the child’s family. But due to the myths
regarding child sexual abuse that focus on “stranger danger,” communities and
lawmalkers often endorse policies that do little to prevent sexual abuse and instead
unnecessarily stretch limited law enforcement resoutces.

Jurisdictions that ban individuals on sex offender registries from
participating in any Halloween activities, require registranis to post signs in their
yards during Halloween, or round up registrants for the duration of trick-or-
treating do not make children safer. Instead, these approaches create a false sense
of safety while using law enforcement resources that could be better spent
protecting children against the higher risk they do face during Halloween — injury
or death from motor vehicles,

Child sexual abuse is a serious public health issue that faces all
communities. Although the prevalence of child sexual abuse can be difficult to
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determine due fo under-reporting, researchers estimate that one in four girls and
one in six boys will be victims of sexual abuse before age 18.

For concerned parents, the best way to protect children from sexual abuse
is to know the facts about sexual offending and take precautions based on facts,
not fears. Parents can visit www.atsa.com to learn more about sexual abuse and
prevention,

Exh. B.

18.  Other subject matter experts echo the same conclusion. In a recent nine-year
study of sex offender behavior led by renowned expert and psychologist Jill Levenson, Ph.D.,
entitled “How Safe are Trick-or-Treaters?”, Dr, Levenson and her colleagues determined that
threats to children from Registrants on Halloween are virtually non-existent, and that no such
case has ever occurred in the jurisdictions studied. Dr. Levenson’s findings in fact “suggest that
Halloween policies [like Section 589.426] may in fact be targeting a new urban myth similar to
past myths warning of tainted treats.”! In a related publication, Dr. Levenson explains the
methodology underlying this conclusion:

Using national incident-based reporting system (NIBRS) crime report data from 1997

through 2005, we examined 67,045 non-familial sex crimes against children age 12 and

younger. Halloween rates were compated to expectations based on time, seasonality and
weekday periodicity, There were no significant increases in sex crimes on or around

Halloween, and Halloween incidents did not demonstrate unusual case characteristics.

Findings did not vary in the years prior to and after these policies became popular.  If

these policies were to have an effect on overall Halloween victimization, we would

expect that the rates of offenses on Halloween would show a greater decline over time
relative to the rates for other days.?

19.  Sociologist Emily Horowitz, Ph.D., author of three books studying the efficacy of

sex offender laws, likewise surveyed social science evidence and concludes: “There is no

! See Levenson, et al., How Safe are Trick-or-Treaters? An Analysis of Child Sex Crime Rates
on Halloween (2009), http://sax.sagepub.com/content/21/3/363 .abstract (emphasis added).

2 Levenson, et al., Halloween & Sex Crime: Myth vs. Reality (Oct. 24, 2014),
https://blog.atsa.com/2014/10/halloween-sex-crime-myth-vs-reality htmi

7
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research that sex offenses increase on Halloween, no evidence that sex offenders target children

on Halloween, and, in fact, no evidence that a child has ever been a victim of sexual abuse by a -

stranger while out trick-or-treating™

C. The State of Missouri Prosecuted Plaintiff Thomas L. Sanderson for Vielating the

Statute 14 Years After Law Enforcement Confirmed the Statute Did Not Apply to

Him

20.  Upon information and belief, law enforcement agencies within the State of
Missouri, including Defendants in this action, currently investigate and prosecute viola_ﬁor;s of
the Statute, including the Hatloween Sign Posting Mandate.

21.  Plaintiff Sanderson and his family moved to the city of Hazelwood, Missouti in or
about the year 2000, Each Halloween for the 22-year period between 2000 and 2022, Plaintiff
Sanderson’s family erected and maintained lavish Halloween displays at their home and 01; theil'
large property. The displays included numerous stationary and animated or animatronic figures
and creatures, lights, music, fog machines, and other Halloween décor. Over time, the
Sanderson’s display came to include a large bonfire. Local firemen stopped firetrucks in front of
the Sanderson property to hand out candy, The Sandersons’ display has been a neighbprhéod

tradition for many years, with over 300 people visiting each Halloween.

3 BmiLy HorOwITZ, PROTECTING OUR Kips? How SEX OFFENDER LAWS ARE FAILING Us 71
(2015) (ernphasis added).

4 §.g., Victoria Bordenga, “Missouri sex offenders face extra scrutiny on Halloween,” Oct. 31
2022, at hitps//www.wgem.com/2022/10/3 1 /missouri-sex-offenders-face- extlamscmtmw
halloween/ (“Missouri police are checking up on sex offenders to make sure your kids are safe -
while trick or treating this Halloween. . . . Shelbina Police Chief Jeff Brown said parents {] can
rest assured that deputies will be enforcing this law tonight, ‘“They’1l [deputies] be assigned to
different parts of the county and that’s what that deputy will have to do,” Brown said. . .. If
they’re not compliant, those sex offenders are subject to arrest.”).

8
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22.  Inorabout 2000, shortly after moving to Hazelwood, law enforcement
interviewed Plaintiff Sanderson regarding allegations of inappropriate sexual touching made Aby a
16-year-old friend of the family. Plaintiff Sanderson thoroughly denied the allegations. No
action was faken for six years, uﬁtﬂ the year 2006, when Plaintiff Sanderson was atrested and |
prosecuted based upon those allegations,

23.  In 2006, Plaintiff Sanderson was convicted of an offense requiring registration as
a sex offender under Missouri law, Plaintiff Sanderson continues to deny the aliegations.

24, In 2008, the state of Missouri enacted the Statute, the requirements of which were
widely reported in the media, including the Halloween Sign Posting Mandate, The Statute took
effect on August 28, 2008, Upon information and belief, there was confusion regarding its |
applicability to Registrants such as Plaintiff Sanderson who were convicted prior to the Stamte’s,
effective date.’ |

25, Prior to October 31, 2008, Plaintiff visited the St, Louis County Police
Department, the law enforcement agency at which he is required to register and asked whether 3
the Statute applied to him. The registration official with the St. Louis County Police Department
affirmatively stated that the Statute did not apply to Plaintiff because he was convicted prior tol ‘
the effective date of the Ordinance, Accordingly, Plaintiff Sanderson continued to decorate his
residence and to participate in Halloween festivities as usual.

26.  Four years later, in or about October 2012, Hazelwood Police Offices appeared at

Plaintiff Sanderson’s residence to inquire about his Halloween decorations, alleging him to be in

5 On January 12, 2010, the Missouri Supreme Court ruled that the Statute could not be lawfully
applied to persons convicted prior to August 28, 2008 under the “retrospective application”
clause of Article L, section 13 of the Missouri Constitution. F.R. v. St. Charles County Sheriff’s -
Dept., 301 S.W.3d 56, 60 (Mo. 2010). Three years later, this ruling was called into doubt, State
v. Wade, 421 S.W.,3d 429, 435 (Mo, 2013).
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violation of the Statute. Plaintiff Sanderson advised Hazelwood Police Officers that the St.
Louis County Police Department told him four years earlier, in 2008, that he need not comply
with the Statute. Soon thereafter, a representative of the Hazelwood Police Department called
Plaintiff Sanderson to apologize, and again confirmed that he was not subject to the Statute, |

27.  For the next 10 years, Plaintiff Sanderson continued to decorate his residence anq'
participate in Halloween festivities there. Plaintiff Sanderson never received, at any time
between 2008 and 2022, written or verbal notice that the Statute or any aspect of it applied-to '
him. |

28.  However, on or about October 31, 2022, while his residence was decorated as it _'
had been for the past 22 Halloweens, six marked vehicles from the Hazelwood Police
Department descended upon the Sanderson residence with sirens blaring, Afleast 10 Hazelwood
Police officers then entered Plaintiff Sanderson’s property from all sides, including through Bis |
neighbor’s yard. Officers told Plaintiff Sanderson he was in violation of the Statute that he had _'
twice before been told did not apply to him, The offices asked for permission to search his
property, which Plaintiff Sanderson refused to grant permission, requesting instead that the . .
officers obtain a warrant.

29, On November 3, 2022, law enfotcement obtained a warrant and arrested Plaintif{ '
Sanderson and placed him in custody. Plaintiff Sanderson was then charged with one
misdemeanor count of violating the Statute (i.e., “Fail To Comply With Halloween Related .

Restrictions For Sex Offenders - { Misdemeanor A RSMo: 589.426 }) in State v. Sanderson; St.

Louis Co, Court Case No, 22SL-CR07753. On April 13, 2023, the St Louis County Court

convicted Plaintiff Sanderson of violating the Statute and sentenced him to 12 months of

10
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unsupervised probation, Plaintiffis currently on probation and will remain on probation thiough
April 12, 2024,
30. At no time has Plaintiff Sanderson been convicted of, investigated for, or
otherwise accused of an offense against any person on or related to Halloween.
CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

L First Claim for Relief

{42 U.S.C, § 1983 — First Amendment —
Sign Posting Requirement of MO Rev. Stat. § 589.426(1)(3))
31.  Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 30 of this Complaint as though fully ’sef_
forth herein. ‘ |
32.  The First Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits state actors frorﬁ
enacting or enforcing any law “abridging the freedom of speech.” U.S. CONST. Amend. 1. The
Freedom of Speech includes the right to avoid being compelled to speak a message that one does

not wish to speak, whether false or truthful, accurate or inaccurate. B.g., Wooley v. Maynard,

430 U.8. 705, 714 (1977) (First Amendment protection “includes both the right to speak freely
and the right to refrain from speaking at all.”). Halloween sign posting mandates axe “clagsic
examples” of unconstitutional compelled speech and have been struck down in every jurisdiction

to consider them. McClendon v, Long, 22 F.4th 1330, 1337 (11th Cir. 2022).

13, In Doe v, City of Simi Valley, 2012 WL 12507598, at #7-9 (C.D, Cal. Oct. 29,
2012), the United States District Court for the Central District of California enjoined
enforcement of a similar sign posting mandate imposed by a local city. The ordinance in '
question required Registrants to post signs on their front doors that read “No Candy or ;Treats at

this Residence.” Id. at *1, The District Court issued a temporary restraining order against the -

11
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sign-posting mandate on the grounds that the sign “compels sex offenders to speak.” Id. at *7.- .
The Simi Valley court further found that a signs

pose[] a danger to sex offenders, their families and their property. ., .. [Iits
function and effect is Likely to approximate that of Hawthorne’s Scarlet Letter —
... potentially subjecting them to dangerous mischief common on Halloween
night and to community harassment iu the weeks and months following|. ]

City of Simi Valley, supra, 2012 WL 12507598, &t *9.

34, In2022, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit reversed the
District Court’s denial of an injunction against a sign posting made on First Amendment =

Grounds. McClendon v, Long, 22 F.4th 1330 (11th Cir, 2022). McClendon v, Long concerned a

local Sheriffs depariment practice of placing signs on the front lawns of Registrants’ homes

stating “Stop — Warning! NO TRICK-OR-TREAT AT THIS ADDRESS! A COMMUNITY

~ .

SAFETY MESSAGE FROM BUTTS COUNTY SHERIFF GARY LONG.” 1d. at 1333, Tflc -
Eleventh Circuit held that “The Sheriff’s warning signs are a classic exarnple of compeiled
government speech.” Id. at 13377. The Eleventh Circuit further held that the signs failed strict -
scrutiny review, and were therefore unconstitutional, because “the Sheriff has not met his burden
to show the yard signs were narrowly tailored, [] because he has not offered evidence that anly of ..
the yard signs would accomplish the compelling purpose of protecting children from sexual
abuse,” Id. at 1338,

35, Further, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit has held that a
law “impermissibly compels speech” when it forces a party to aceept and publish “official -

denunciations” of themselves. Gralike v. Cook, 191 F.3d 911, 917-19 (8th Cir. 1999), aff’'d on

other grounds Cook v, Gralike, 531 U.S. 510 (2001). The same reasoning applies to the Sign A

Posting Mandate of the Statute, in that the Halloween Sign Posting Mandate compels Plaintiff, .

12
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his family, and all Registrants to use their own property as billboards for the govémment’s‘ false
message that they pose a risk to children on Halloween.

36.  Further, the Halloween Sign Posting Mandate of the Statute requires Plaintiff
Sanderson and other Registrants — as well as their family members ~ to engage in speech with
which they disagree, speech on a politically incendiary topic, speech that is false, speech t}.la{.
they do not wish to make, and speech that invites a serious risk of harm to themselves and to |
their families, This speech is compelled by requiring Registrants to post a specific sign on their
residences, the content of which is prescribed by statute and heavily publicized by state and local
government in Missouri, in a manner that advertises the Registrants’ status as sex offepderé to all
neighbors and passersby. This sign effectively forces Registrants to communicate to the pubiié _
the government’s view that they and the other occupants of their residences are immediate
threats to public safety, despite the comiplete absence of any evidence for this assertion. This
false message encourages private individuals to confront, bully, harass, intimidate, and.to .
otherwise take vigilante action against Registrants, who are generally forbidden to possess aﬁy' |
means of self-defense (such as firearms) by virtue of their convictions. |

37.  The threats to Plaintiffs and others imposed by the Halloween Sign Posting
Mandate are enhanced by the fact that Halloween evening is traditionally a time When gigniﬁcant
numbers of people engage in mischievous and/or unlawful activity throughout the neighborhood,
including acts of vandalism (i.e., “tricks™) against residences that decline to participate in trick-
or-treating by leaving exterior lights cxtinguished, eschewing seasonal decorations, and by
taking other steps mandated by the Ordinance. | |

38, The threats to Plaintiff and others imposed by the Halloween Sign Posting

Mandate are further enhanced by the media coverage that routinely accompanies the enactment -

13
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and enforcement of Halloween restrictions for sex offenders, which serves to inform the public .
that sign posting requirements are required only of Registrants, and that such signs are
tantamount to declarations by the Registrant and by the State government that the occupants ‘ofb
the residence are Registrants who pose a significant risk to public safety. In fact, the State of
Missouri’s Halloween Sign Posting Mandate, along with the rest of the Statute, is routinely
publicized in the State of Missouri and surrounding communities each year, including detailed
reports of Registrants found to be in violation of the Statute,®

39.  Defendants lack a sufficienily strong interest in compelling the speech of i’}aintiff
Sanderson through the Halloween Sign Posting Mandate.

40.  The Halloween Sign Posting Mandate is not sufficiently related to achieving any
legitimate interest that the State of Missouri purports to achieve by enforcing the Statute.

41,  'The Halloween Sign Posting Mandate is not sufficiently tailored to achicve any
legitimate interest that the State of Missouri purports to achieve by enforcing the Statute. |

42.  The Hallowsen Sign Posting Mandate is not the least restrictive means of
achieving any legitimate interest that the State of Missouri purports to achieve by enforeing the

Statute.

6 See, e.g,, Victoria Bordenga, “Missouri sex offenders face extra scrutiny on Halloween,” Oct.
31, 2022, at hittps://www.wgem.com/2022/10/31/missouri-sex-offenders-face-extra-serutiny-
halloween/ (“Missouri police are checking up on sex offenders to make sure your kids are safe
while trick or treating this Halloween. *Well it makes me feel safe,” Shelby County resident
Muriah Schuman said. . . . Missouri state law prohibits any sex offender from handing out candy
on Halloween, ‘Knowing that they have to put a sign out or leave their lights off makes me feel a
{ot better about taking my kids out,” Schuman said.”); Elyse Schoeing, “Police: Dozens of sex
offender violations in St. Charles County on Halloween night: More than 100 registered sex
offenders were checked Monday night throughout St. Charles County,” Nov, 1, 2022, at
httns:/ferww . ksdk.com/article/news/local/sex-offender-violations-st-charles-county-halloween-
night/63-16b325e9-25c8-4d2a-86a0-f18cfa2d00be (noting that “Several police departments in
St. Charles County found more than 25 sex offender violations on Halloween night after
checking 161 registered sex offenders Monday night throughout the county.”);

14
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43, The Halloween Sign Posting Mandate is an arbitrary, politically motivated act
imposed by a state government in response to popular sentiments, based upon misinformation,
which imposes undeserved and unjustifiable harm upon a socially outcast minority. |

44.  The Halloween Sign Posting Mandate is therefore unconstitutional on First.
Amendment grounds.

11. Second Claim for Relief

(28 U.S.C. § 2201 - Declaratory Relief)

45,  Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 42 of this Complaint as though fully set
forth herein.

46,  An actual controversy exists between Plaintiff Sanderson and Defendants
regarding the constitutionality and enforceability of the Halloween Sign Posting Mandate of
Missouri Revised Statute section 589.426, subd. (1)}(3).

47, Plaintiff Sanderson is entitled to a declaration of rights regarding the Halloween
Sign Posting Mandate of Missouri Revised Statute section 589.426, subd. (1)(3).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

A, That Defendants be enjoined in perpetuity from enforcing the Halloween Sign
Posting Mandate codified at Missouti Revised Statute section 589.426, subd. (1)(3), against -
Plaintiff Sanderson or any other person;

B. That the Halloween Sign Posting Mandate codified at Missouri Revised Statute
section 589.426, subd. (1)(3), be declared null and void under the First Amendment to the United '
States Constitution; |
1

i

i5
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C. That Plaintiff recovers from the Defendants, under 42 U,S.C. Section 1988, all of

Plaintiff’s reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and expenses of this litigation; and

D. That Plaintiff recover such other relief as the Court deems just and propet.
Dated: October 3, 2023 s/ Matthew D, Fry
Matthew David Fry #57845MO
Attorney for Plaintiff

Rosenblum, Schwartz, Fry & Johnson- |
120 8, Central Ave., Ste. 130

St. Louis, Misgsouri 63105

(314) 862-4332

mfry@rsijlaw.com

16
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YERIFICATION

I am the plaintiff in this action. The matters stated in the foregoing Complaint are true of
my own knowledge, except as-to those matters which are stated on information and belief, and as

to those matters I believe them to be true,

Executed on ?/ 2.5, /,20&5 , in Hazelwood, Misscuri, Ideclare under the pén‘alty of

perjury under the laws of the State of Missouri that the foregoing is true and correct.

/ 1 G
homas 1.. Sanderson
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EXHIBIT A
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Mo. Rev. Stat. § 589.426

Universal Citation: MO Rev Stat § 589.426 (2022}

Effective - 28 Aug 2008
589,426. Halloween, restrictions on conduct — violations, penalty, —

1. Any person required to register as a sexual offender under sections 589.400 to
589,425 shall be required on October thirty-first of each year to;

(1) Avoid all Halloween-related contact with children;

(2) Remain inside his or her residence between the hours of 5 p.m. and 10:30
p.m. unless required to be elsewhere for just cause, including but not limited
to employment or medical emergencies; '

(3) Post a sign at his or her residence stating, "No candy or treats at this
residence"; and '

(4) Leave all outside residential lighting off during the evening hours after 5
p.m. '

2. Any person required to register as a sexual offender under sections 589.400 to
589,425 who violates the provisions of subsection 1 of this section shall be guilty of
a class A misdemeanor, '
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Sexual Abuse: Halloween and sexual abuse prevention: The mythical “Halleween effect”

xifi’ l:}."“..&i,}j Focesia

o, B, WL MREHEEE

Friday, October 4, 2019

Halloween and sexual abuse prevention: The mythical “Ha!loween
effect’

PN

A statemenf from the Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abtisers.

As October arrives and families begin preparing for Halloween, it is always a priority to ensure"v',
children's safety during this holiday. it is important fo leam the facts and know the risks to your child
during this festive time. A heightened risk of being sexually abused is NOT one of the dangers ch;idr_e_n
face at Halloween, , .

The simple fact is that there are no significant increases in sex crimes on or around Halloween. There -
is no “Halloween effect.” There is no change in the rate of sexual crimes by non-family members
during Halloween, That was true both before and after communities enacted laws fo restrict the;“
activities of registrants during Halloween.

The crimes that do increase around Halloween are vandalism and property destruction, as well as
theft, assault, and burglary. In addition, according to the Centers for Disease Control, chiidren are four
times more likely to be killed by a pedestrian/motor-vehicle accident on Halloween than on any other -
day of the year, ' :

Fully 93% of sexual assaults on children are perpetrated by someone known to, and trusted by, the'.
child and the child’s family. But due to the myths regarding child sexual abuse that focus on “stranger
danger,” communities and lawmakers often endorse policies that do littte fo prevent sexual abuse and
instead unnecessarily stretch limited law enforcement resources. '

Jurisdictions that ban individuals on sex offender registries from participating in any Halloween.
activities, require registrants to post signs in their yards during Halloween, or round up registrants for
the duration of trick-or-freating do not make children safer. Instead, these approaches create a false |
sense of safety while using law enforcement resources that could be better spent protecting children -
against the higher risk they do face during Halloween ~ injury or death from moter vehicles.- -
Child sexual abuse is a serious public health issue that faces all communities. Although the prevalence
of child sexual abuse can be difficult to determine due to under-reporting, researchers estimate that
one In four girls and one in six boys will be victims of sexual abuse before age 18. '

htips:/fbtog.atsa.com/i2019/10/Malkowesn-and-sexual-abuse-prevention.himi? m=1 T L2
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Sexual Abuse: Halloween and sexual abuse prevention: The mythical "Halloween effect”

For concemed parents, the best way to protect children from sexual abuse is to know the facts about R

sexual offending and take precautions based on facts, not fears. Parents can visit www.atsa.com to
fearn more about sexual abiuse and prevention. :

For more research and analysis on this topic please see a previous blog by Jill Levenson

called “Halloween & Sex Crime: Myth vs. Reality” - Kieran

SAJRT Blog at 5:48 AM

Ghimde

et

Home
View web version

Powered by Blogger.

nitps/iblog.atsa.comi2019/10/halioween-and-sexual-abuse-prevention hirmi?m=1

"
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

THOMAL L. SANDERSON,

an individual
+

Plaintiff,

v Case No,

ANDRBY BAILEY, ip bis official capacicy as Attornay
Qenaral pf the State af Miasouri; and JAMES

HUDANICK, in his official cepacity as Chief of

police of tha city of Hazelwaond, Hissourl S

Defendant,

T N N A e N N

ORIGINAL TILING FORM

THIS FORNM MUST BE COMPLETED AND VERIFIRD BY THE FILING PARTY
WHEN INITIATING A NEW CASE.

D THIS SAME CAUSE, OR A SUBSTANTIALLY EQUIVALENT COMPLAINT, WAS

PREVIOUSLY FILED IN THIS COURT AS CASE NUMBER

AND ASSIGNED TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE

THIS CAUSE IS RELATED, BUT IS NOT SUBSTANTIALLY EQUIVALENT TO ANY

PREVIOUSLY FILED COMPLAINT, THE RELATED CASE NUMBER I§ #:08-cv-01518-CEJ AND

THAT CASE WAS ASSIGNED TO THE HONCRABLE CARCL E. JACKSON . THHS CASE MAY,

THEREFORE, BE OPENED AS AN ORIGINAL PROCEEDING.

D NEITHER THIS SAME CAUSE, NOR A SUBSTANTIALLY EQUIVALENT
COMPLAINT, HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY FILED IN THIS COURT, AND THEREFORE

MAY BE OPENED AS AN ORIGINAL PROCEEDING.

The undersigned affirms that the information provided above is frue and correct.

Date: 10/03/2(}23 . /‘_‘

Signature of Filing Party
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MOED-0001 PISCLOSURE STATEMENT

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

THOMAS L. SANDERSON,
an individual

Piaintiff(s),

Vs, Case No,

ANDREW BAILEY, in his official capacity
as Attorney General of the State of
Migsouri, et al,

Defendant(s),

— e e et et e e o

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Pursuant to Local Rule 2.09 and Federal Rule of Civll Procedure 7.1, Counsel of record for
Thomas L. Sanderson hereby discloses the following:

1. If the subject is a nongovernmental corporate party or a nongovernmental corporation that seeks :
to intervene, ' .
a. Whether it is publicly traded, and if it is, on which exchange(s):

NOT APPLICARBRLE

b. [ts parent companies or corporations (if none, state “none”):
c, Its subsidiaries not whoily owned by the subject (If none, state “none”); ‘
d. Any publicly held company or corporation that gwns five percent {3%) or more of

the subject’s stock (if none, state “none”}:

2. if the subject is a party or intervenor in an action in which jurisdiction is based on diversity
under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a), the name and citizenship of every Individual or entity whose
citizenship is attributed to that party or intervenor, including all members, sub-members,
general and limited partners, and corporations:

NOT APPLICARBRLE

Note: Sub-members include the members of members (i.e., first-tier sub-members), and the
members of first-tier sub-members {i.e., second-tler sub-members), the members of second-tier
sub-members (i.e., third-tier sub-members), and so on, until the Court knows the citizenship of
alf persons and entities within the ownership structure, Further, if a corporation is a member or .
sub-member of the subject organization, that corporation’s state of Incorporation and principal
place of business must be disclosed,

L
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MOED-0001 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

By slgning this form, counsel acknowledges that “if any required informatlon changes,” and/or
“If any jater event occurs that could affect the court’s jurisdiction under 28 1.5.C. § 1332(a),” counsel
will flie a Disclosure Statement promptly, and no fater than seven (7) days of the change or event, .
EDMO L.R. 2.09(C); see giso Fed. R, Civ, P, 7.1{a)(2){B} and 7.1({b}{2).

Stghature (Counsel for Plaintiff/Defendant) -
Print Name: Matthew D. Fry ‘
Address: 120 8. Central Ave. Ste. 130

City/State/2ip; _ 8t. Louis, MO 63105
Phone: {314) 862-4332 '

Certificate of Service

I hereby certify that a true copy of the foregoing Disclosure Statement was served (by mail,

by hand delivery, or by electronic notice) on all parties on: :

Qctober 3 L2023
Signature
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AQ 440 (Rev, 12/09) Summons in & Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Eastern District of Missouri

THOMAS L. SANDERSON, an indlvidual

Plaintiff

v Civil Action No.

ANDREW BAILEY, in his offictal capacity as Attorney
General of the State of Missouri, ef al.

L R W Y ]

Deferndant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s neme and address) ANDREW BAILEY
in his official capacity as Attorney General of the State of Missouri
8165 Olive Straat
St, Louig, MO 83101

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

EAEE

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 {a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiffs attorney,-
whose name and address are:  Matthew D. Fry

Rosenblum, Schwartz, Fry & Johnson
120 S. Gentral Ave., Ste. 130
St. Louis, Missourt 683105

If you fail to respond, judgment by defanit will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint, -
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AQ 440 (Rev, 12/09) Summons i & Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No,

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed, R, Civ. P, 4 ())

This sumnmons for (rame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (dave)

O 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) yOor

7 1left the swmnmons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with frane)

. & person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (dote) , and mailed a copy to the individuat’s fast known address; or

3 I served the summons ot (rame of individual) " ,whois

designated by law te accept service of process on behalf of fame of organization) . .
on (date) ; of

O Iretusned the summons unexecuted because o or

() Other fspecifi:

My fees are § for travel and § for services, for a total of § 0,00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true,

Date:

Server's signofure

Printed name and title

Seryer's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, efc:
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AO 440 (Rev, 12/09) Summons in a Civit Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Eastern Distriet of Missouri

THOMAS L. SANDERSON, an individual

Plaintiff

V. Civil Action No.

ANDREW BAILEY, in his official capacity as Attorney
Ganeral of the State of Missouri, et al.

AN N NS T N N

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant's name and address) JAMES HUDANICK
in his official capacity as Chief of Police of the city of Hazelwood, Missour;
Hazelwood Police Department
415 Elm Grove Lane
Hazelwood, MO 63042

A lewsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you {not counting the day you received it} — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed, R. Civ.

P. 12 {a)(2) or {3} — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 0f ...

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attomey,
whose name and address are:  Matthew D. Fry . .
Rosenbium, Schwartz, Fry & Johnson ‘.
120 8, Central Ave., Ste. 130 '
St. Louis, Missouri 63105

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint, -
You also must file your answer or moton with the cowt,

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk A
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AQ 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
{This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed, R, Civ. P. 4 (8))

This summons for fmame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) . . .

3 T personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) , ot

0J 1left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (hame)

. & person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

O Iserved the summons on (hame of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (rame of arganization)

on (dute) ;or
O Irefurned the summons unexecuted because ;or
3 Other fspecify: .
My fees are § for travel and § for services, for a total of § 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server's signature

Printed name and title

Server's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, ste:
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

EASTERN DIVISION
Thomas L. Sanderson
¥ )
Plaintiff (s), )
)
V. ) Case No,
)
Andrew Railey, et al. )
] )
Defendant(s). )
NOTICE OF INTENT TO USE
PROCESS SERVER
Plaintiff

Comes now _Thomas L. Sanderson and notifies the court of the intent to use
(Plaintiff or Defendant)

Robert Thomure, Mebro One Investigations

(name and address of process server)

PO Box 23008

8t, Liouisg, MO 63156

To serve: Andrew Bailey and James Hudanick

inthe
(name of defendants to be served by this process server)

above-styled cause, The process server listed above possesses the
requirements as stated in Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

The undersigned affirms the information provided above is true and correct.

10/03/2023 Matthew D, Fry

(date) (attorney W
/ 2

(att%rne? for’ﬁefendant)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

EASTERN DIVISION
Thomas L. Sanderson
, )
Plaintiff (s), )
)
V. ) Case No,
)
Andrew Bailey, et al. )
) )
Defendant(s). )
NOTICE OF INTENT TO USE
PROCESS SERVER

Plaintiff
Comes now _Thomas L. Sanderson and notifies the court of the intent to use

(Plaintiff or Defendant)

Robert Thomure, Metro One Investigations

{(name and address of process server)

PO Box 23008

St. Louilsg, MO 63156

To serve: Andrew Bailey and James Hudanick

in the
(name of defendants to be served by this process server)

above-styled cause. The process server listed above possesses the
requirements as stated in Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

The undersigned affirms the information provided above is true and correct.

10/03/2023 Matthew . Fry

(date) (attorney w
/ 5~

(atf;)rnej; forDefendant)




